IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 3rd DCA Case No. 94-02671 Florida Bar No. 184170

SPONCO MANUFACTURING, INC., a) Kansas corporation,)

Petitioner,

vs.

EDWARD ALCOVER and SUSAN ALCOVER, his wife; HYDRAULIC MAINTENANCE, INC., a Florida corporation; and FLORIDA WIRE AND RIGGING, INC., a Florida corporation,

Respondents.

SID J. WHITE

FILED

AUG 7 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chiled Deputy Clerk

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION SPONCO MANUFACTURING, INC., A Kansas corporation

(With	Appendix)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

The case involves a truck mounted hydraulic ladder manufactured by Sponco in 1980. The ladder contained a wire rope replaced by Hydraulic in 1988 and manufactured by Florida Wire. Sponco Manufacturing, Inc. v. Alcover, 20 Fla. Law Weekly, D1566 (Fla. 3d DCA, July 5, 1995). In September of 1990, the Plaintiff, a neon sign electrician, was installing a sign, when the wire broke/snapped and the ladder partially retracted, injuring the Plaintiff as he held on to the ladder. Sponco, D1566. The ladder and rope were held by Sponco in its yard in Kansas for three years, during which time the Plaintiff made absolutely no attempt to inspect the ladder or preserve it in any manner. Ϊn fact, the Plaintiff did not even hire an expert until January of 1994. In March of 1994, two years after defense counsel notified the Plaintiff with the location of the ladder, three years after suit was filed, and almost four years after the accident, the Plaintiff made his first attempt to examine it. Sponco, 1566. At that time, it was discovered that the ladder had been inadvertently discarded, during an inventory in June of 1993.

The trial judge found that the Defendant had an absolute duty to preserve the ladder; and the inadvertent disposal of it mandated a Default against Sponco. <u>Sponco</u>, 1566. The judge did <u>not</u> find any willful or deliberate refusal to obey a court order. It was undisputed that the disposal of the ladder was totally inadvertent and accidental, and there was no court order requiring preservation of the ladder.

The Third District affirmed and held that this Court's

-1-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

decisions in <u>Commonwealth Federal Savings and Loan Association v.</u> <u>Tubero</u>, 569 So. 2d 1271 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Public Health Trust of</u> <u>Dade County v. Valcin</u>, 507 So. 2d 596 (Fla. 1987), had no application whatsoever, even though these decisions mandate a finding of willfulness or bad faith before there is an imposition of a default. <u>Sponco</u>, D1566.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court imposed on lower courts the rule that when a default is to be entered, for failure to comply with a court order to compel discovery, or failure to comply with discovery requirements, the order <u>must</u> contain an explicit finding of willful noncompliance. In <u>Sponco</u>, the Third District announced a new rule of law that is in direct conflict; as it adopts a per se rule that the severest sanction of default must be entered, without a showing and finding of willful noncompliance. <u>Sponco</u> cannot be squared with this Court's decisions, and this Court has jurisdiction to resolve the conflict and affirm the law as stated in <u>Commonwealth</u> and <u>Valcin</u>.

ARGUMENT

THE NEW RULE OF LAW ANNOUNCED BELOW IS IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT IN <u>COMMONWEALTH</u> AND <u>VALCIN</u>, AND WITH DECISIONS OF EVERY OTHER DISTRICT COURT IN FLORIDA, AND PRESENTS A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE REGARDING THE THIRD DISTRICT'S PER SE RULE THAT DESTRUCTION OF EVIDENCE, EVEN IF INADVERTENT, CARRIES A MANDATORY DEFAULT SANCTION AND NO LESSER SANCTION CAN BE IMPOSED.

In direct violation of Florida Supreme Court law, the Third

-2-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

District announced a new rule of law that the Defendant has an absolute duty to preserve evidence, even without a court order; and the inadvertent disposal of this evidence mandates a Default. The trial judge did not find any willful or deliberate refusal to obey a court order, which are this Court's prerequisites, before entering a default as a discovery sanction. It was undisputed that the disposal of the ladder was totally inadvertent and accidental, and there was no court order requiring preservation of the ladder.

Under totally established Florida law, the Default was erroneous and the decision in <u>Sponco</u> is in direct and express conflict with this Court's decisions. If a sanction was to be imposed, a lesser sanction such as a rebuttable presumption of negligence would have been appropriate, as properly suggested by defense counsel below. Even federal courts do not impose defaults for the destruction of evidence, in the absence of a showing and finding of willfulness and bad faith. The court's per se rule of liability, for even the inadvertent disposal of evidence, is contrary to established Supreme Court law and the law in every other district court and federal law. The Opinion below must be reversed.

In <u>Commonwealth</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Court held that an express written finding of a party's willful or deliberate refusal to obey a court order directing compliance with discovery is necessary to support a sanction of dismissal or default against a noncomplying party.

-3-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

Even if the original Sponco ladder was somehow necessary, this Court provides that a rebuttable presumption of a defective condition should be imposed, instead of the ultimate sanction of a default. <u>Valcin</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Based on the fact there was no finding of a willful disregard of a court order, that the Plaintiff had at least three years to inspect the ladder and failed to do so; that there are alternative methods of proof available to the Plaintiff, and alternative and more appropriate sanctions required; the entry of a Default against Sponco was an unwarranted and illegal sanction, in direct conflict with established law, and in excess of the court's discretion.

In <u>Commonwealth</u>, this Court reviewed a Fourth District Court case, <u>Tubero v. Chapnich</u>, 552 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), where the appellate court certified, as a question of great public importance, the following:

> Is an express written finding of willful or deliberate refusal to obey a court order to comply with discovery under Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.380 necessary to sustain the severe sanctions of dismissal or default against a noncomplying plaintiff or defendant? <u>Commonwealth</u>, 1271.

This Court held that an express written finding of a party's willful or deliberate refusal to obey a court order to compel discovery was <u>necessary</u> to sustain a default. The Court went back to its decision in <u>Mercer v. Raine</u>, 443 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 1983), where it considered the circumstances in which a trial judge was authorized to enter a default for noncompliance with a

-4-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

discovery order and noted that because of the severity of the sanction it should be employed in only extreme circumstances:

A deliberate and contumacious disregard of the court's authority will justify application of this severest of sanctions, <u>Swindle v. Reid</u>, 242 So. 2d 751 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970), as will bad faith, willful disregard or gross indifference to an order of the court, or conduct which evinces deliberate callousness, <u>Herold v. Computer Components</u> <u>International, Inc.</u>, 252 So. 2d 576 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971). <u>Mercer</u>, 443 So. 2d at 946. <u>Commonwealth</u>, 1272.

The Court then observed that the Fourth District had construed <u>Mercer</u> to require that an order imposing sanctions, under Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.380, had to recite the parties willful failure to submit to discovery, followed by a string of Fourth District Court of Appeal cites. <u>Commonwealth</u>, 1272. The Supreme Court noted that Judge Anstead, in his concurring opinion, in <u>Championship Wrestling From Florida, Inc. v. DeBlasio</u>, 508 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 518 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 1987), suggested that the Supreme Court should decide whether or not a written finding of a willful refusal was required to enter a default in order to put the trial court on notice of such a requirement. <u>Championship</u>, 1272. This Court found that it was the broad discretion of the court to impose the severe sanction that <u>required</u> the concomitant duty that the default order contain an <u>explicit finding of willful noncompliance to be valid</u>:

> By insisting upon a finding of willfulness, there will be the added assurance that the trial judge has made a conscious determination that the noncompliance was more than mere neglect or inadvertence. Further, there are some cases

-5-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

in which the record, standing alone, is susceptible to more than one interpretation and a judge's finding of willfulness can serve to assist the appellate court in reaching its conclusion. <u>See, Wallraff v.</u> <u>T.G.I. Friday's, Inc.</u>, 490 So. 2d 50 (Fla. 1986)(record did not resolve the dispute of whether deposition which plaintiff failed to attend had been cancelled). We hasten to add that no "magic words" are required but rather only a finding that the conduct upon which the order is based was equivalent to willfulness or deliberate disregard. <u>Commonwealth</u>, 1273.

The Supreme Court has imposed on lower courts the rule that when a default is to be entered, for failure to comply with a court order to compel discovery, or failure to comply with discovery requirements, the order <u>must</u> contain an explicit finding of willful noncompliance. Therefore, the Third District's new rule of law to the contrary is in direct conflict; as it imposes a per se rule that the severest sanction of default must be entered, even where there is no showing whatsoever of any willful noncompliance.

Virtually every District Court has followed the <u>Commonwealth</u> rule and requires this express written finding of willful or deliberate refusal, in order to support a Default, for failure to comply with any discovery order or discovery requirements. <u>Rodriguez v. Thermal Dynamics, Inc.</u>, 582 So. 2d 805 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991); <u>Rose v. Clinton</u>, 575 So. 2d 751 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991); <u>Brooks</u> <u>v. Elliott</u>, 593 So. 2d 1209 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); <u>Nob Hill at</u> <u>Welleby Ltd. v. Resolution Trust Corporation</u>, 573 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); <u>CDR Marketing, Inc. v. Chopin</u>, 573 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); <u>Urbanek v. R.D. Schmaltz, Inc.</u>, 573 So.

-6-

2d 107 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); <u>New Hampshire Insurance Company, Inc.</u> <u>v. Royal Insurance Company</u>, 559 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

There was no evidence of any willful disregard or intention not to comply with discovery in the present case. To the contrary, the Defendant made the ladder available for three years and it was discarded in an ordinary inventory and totally inadvently. The district court disregarded this completely and instead found that the Defendant had an absolute duty to preserve the ladder and in failing to do so, even if accidental; a default had to be entered. <u>Sponco</u>, 1566.

The two cases relied on by the Third District below were decided **before** the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Commonwealth</u>. <u>Commonwealth</u> has, at the very least, impliedly if not explicitly overruled these cases. <u>DePuy, Inc. v. Eckes</u>, 427 So. 2d 306 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); <u>Rockwell International Corporation v.</u> <u>Menzies</u>, 561 So. 2d 677 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). In both, an order had been entered not to destroy evidence in two products liability suits and the evidence was either disposed of, or destroyed. The Third District said that the failure to comply with the discovery order to preserve the evidence, whether intentional or not, coupled with the fact that the plaintiff was unable to use the evidence to go forward to establish liability, required the ultimate sanction of a default against the defendant. <u>DePuy</u>, 307-308; <u>Rockwell</u>, 679-680.

There is no law in Florida to support the Third District's rule that there is always an absolute duty to maintain evidence

-7-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

and the inadvertent loss of the evidence mandates a default as punishment.

In Florida, rebuttable presumptions of negligence are imposed when there has been a destruction of evidence. This Court in Valcin, supra, found that the plaintiff was hindered in her malpractice action against the hospital, because the hospital could not produce the records of her surgical procedure. At the deposition of Valcin's sole medical witness, he testified he could not state that the sterilization procedure that Valcin underwent departed from acceptable medical standards, or that any such departure proximately caused Valcin's subsequent ruptured ectopic pregnancy. Valcin, 597. The reason the expert could not testify was because the hospital could not produce the records of her surgical procedure. The Fourth District found that the lack of the operative report by the surgeon in Valcin's file impaired the expert's ability to determine whether the operation had been performed with due care, and thus ended the plaintiff's ability to proceed; just as the Sponco court found. Valcin, 597-598; Sponco, 1566.

Unlike the present case, in <u>Valcin</u>, there was a statutory duty to maintain these hospital records and the Fourth District fashioned a rule that the hospital had the burden primarily to prove, by the greater weight of the evidence, that the records were not missing due to the intentional and deliberate act or admission of the hospital. <u>Valcin</u>, 598. If the jury determined the hospital had met this burden, then this would simply raise a

-8-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

presumption that the surgical procedure was negligently performed, which could be rebutted by the hospital. <u>Valcin</u>, 598. However, if the doctor was found to have deliberately omitted making the report, or the hospital was found to deliberately or intentionally fail to maintain it, then a conclusive irrebuttable presumption arose that the operation was negligently performed requiring a judgment to be entered in favor of Valcin. <u>Valcin</u>, 598.

This Court found that the Fourth District had properly attempted to fashion a remedy, but that the rule imposed by the Fourth District of a conclusive presumption was violative of due process. <u>Valcin</u>, 599. In other words, a conclusive presumption of negligence, i.e., a default, was unnecessary, as a wide range of sanctions were available under Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.380. <u>Valcin</u>, 599.

The Supreme Court approved a rebuttable presumption, and clarified its application, so the issue of negligence is always one submitted to the jury. <u>Valcin</u>, 601.

Of course, in the present case, there is no statutory duty or any other duty, contrary to what the court found; but even the shifting of the burden of proof to the Defendant would be a lesser sanction to impose on Sponco for its inadvertent disposal of the ladder, and would allow the issue of negligence to go to the jury for a trial on the merits. <u>Federal Insurance Company v. Allister</u> <u>Manufacturing Company</u>, 622 So. 2d 1348, 1352 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993).

In <u>Federal</u>, the Fourth District found that after reviewing federal case law, which it found particularly persuasive because the sanctions to be imposed for lost or destroyed evidence are

-9-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.

based on analogous federal civil procedure, it did **not** support a dismissal or default as a sanction. <u>Federal</u>, 1351; <u>citing</u>, <u>Headley v. Chrysler Motor Corporation</u>, 141 F.R.D. 362 (D. Mass. 1991).

The litney of cases provided in <u>Headley</u>, both federal and state, show that one of the factors to be considered is whether the party destroying the evidence acted in good faith or bad faith. The Third District's finding that such an inquiry is irrelevant, is thus contrary to the vast majority of cases throughout the United States. <u>Lewis v. Darce Towing Company</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 94 F.R.D. 262 (W.D. La. 1982); <u>Headley</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The <u>Sponco</u> decision announced a clearly erroneous new rule of law in direct and express conflict with both Florida and federal case law; which require a finding by the trial court that the Defendant acted intentionally and in bad faith, and willfully destroyed evidence to prevent the other side from using it in the lawsuit before a default is entered. Where there are other available sanctions, such as the use of a rebuttable presumption to shift the burden of proof, the new per se rule mandating a Default as the first and only sanction in the Third District is in clear conflict with decisions of this Court, other district courts, and federal law; and <u>Sponco</u> must be reversed.

CONCLUSION

The decision in <u>Sponco</u> directly and expressly conflicts with the decisions of this court in <u>Commonwealth</u> and <u>Valcin</u>, decisions of other district courts, and federal law; and this Court has jurisdiction to resolve this conflict and reverse <u>Sponco</u>.

-10-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A.