045

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,209

FILED

AUG 30 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

SPONCO MANUFACTURING, INC., a Kansas corporation,

Petitioner,

VS.

EDWARD ALCOVER and SUSAN ALCOVER, his wife; et al,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ON JURISDICTION

Hardy, Bissett & Lipton, P.A. 501 Northeast First Avenue Miami, FL 33132 (305) 358-6200

Attorneys for Respondents

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Sponco Manufacturing, Inc. ("Sponco"), asks this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution¹ to review the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, in Sponco Manufacturing, Inc. v. Alcover, 656 So.2d 629 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). Sponco seeks to predicate "conflict jurisdiction" on the basis of the unfounded assertion that the district court "announced" a "new rule of law" which expressly and directly conflicts with the rule of law established by the decisions of this Court in Commonwealth Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n. v. Tubero, 569 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1990) and Public Health Trust of Dade Co. v. Valcin, 507 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1987). To support its jurisdictional argument, Sponco cavalierly, and in blatant disregard of the record, asserts that the Third District announced a "per se rule that destruction of evidence, even if inadvertent, carries a mandatory default sanction and no lesser sanction can be imposed." (Sponco's jurisdictional brief ["IB"] at i, 2-10).

By reviewing the Third District's decision and opinion, this Court will readily see what this case is all about - Sponco is displeased with the result reached by the district court and is simply seeking a prohibited second appeal in this Court. The determination reached by the district court was entirely appropriate under the applicable law and the facts, and no "express

Article V, Section 3(b)(3), as amended in 1980, provides that this Court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." Although Sponco additionally appears to seek review on the basis that this case "presents a question of great public importance," its alternative jurisdictional argument should be summarily rejected since the district court itself never certified this case as presenting a question of great public importance, an indispensable requirement under Article V, Section 3(b)(4). Indeed, prior to filing its notice invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, Sponco never even presented a request to the district court asking it to certify this case as being one presenting a question of great public importance.

and direct conflict ... [of decisions] ... on the same question of law" has been demonstrated. To grant discretionary review on the basis of a party's mere disagreement with an appellate court's application of established law to a unique and essentially undisputed set of facts would only serve to open the flood gates to parties who desire a prohibited second appeal after an adverse result in the district courts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The "facts" upon which this Court must predicate its initial jurisdictional determination are those set forth in the district court's opinion - Sponco Manufacturing, Inc. v. Alcover, 656 So.2d 629 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). Those facts are as follows:

In September 1990, Edward Alcover, an employee of Claude Neon Signs, was using an aerial ladder attached to a truck to install an overhead sign. While the ladder was in an extended position, a cable wire snapped and Alcover was thrown and injured. Alcover sued Sponco Manufacturing Inc., which in 1980 had manufactured the wire. As to Sponco, Alcover alleged that the company defectively or negligently designed, manufactured, assembled, or produced the ladder. Thereafter, Alcover was notified that Sponco had possession of the ladder. As the time of trial approached, when Alcover requested an inspection of the ladder, it was discovered that the ladder had been discarded. Thereafter, on Alcover's motion, a default on the issue of liability was entered against Sponco. We affirm.

* * *

A determination of willful destruction was not imperative where the testimony of plaintiff's expert convinced the trial court that, in the absence of the crucial evidence, the plaintiff was no longer able to proceed against Sponco or either of the other two defendant companies. Having proved his inability to proceed, Alcover's motion was properly granted and Sponco was held accountable for the ramifications of its actions. Here, Alcover's ability to establish his civil suit was cut off by Sponco's destruction of the evidence. [656 So.2d at 630] (all emphasis supplied by counsel unless noted otherwise).

In addition to presenting the Court with these, the controlling operative facts, we feel compelled to register our vigorous disagreement with the following improper and unsupported factual assertions which are repeated in several places in Sponco's brief: (1) that the plaintiffs were themselves partially to blame for the loss of the ladder due to their delay in requesting an inspection of it (brief at 1, 4, and 7); (2) that it was "undisputed" that the ladder and cable had been "inadvertently" disposed of during a routine inventory at Sponco's stockyard (Id. at 1, 3, and 7); and (3) that "there are alternative methods of proof available to the Plaintiff." (Id. at 4). We have characterized these factual assertions as being "improper", since they are in no way supported by the facts recited in the district court's opinion. See, Florida Star v. B.J.F., 530 So.2d 286, 288 (Fla. 1988) (conflict must be established from facts stated within four corners of opinion itself; reference to record proper or materials in appendix is not proper); Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986) (same). Moreover, the factual assertions are "unfounded", having never been supported by any competent proof offered by Sponco at any stage of the proceedings below.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Apparently recognizing that the <u>actual</u> decision and opinion it has brought up for review does not expressly and directly conflict with any decision of this Court or of another district court of appeal, Sponco has adopted a strategy under which it blatantly mischaracterizes the nature of the decision of the court below and then asserts that the <u>fictional decision it has created</u> establishes a basis for this Court to exercise its discretionary "conflict" jurisdiction. This Court should not allow itself to be fooled by Sponco's strategy.

Contrary to Sponco's assertion, the Third District did not "announce" a new "per se rule

that destruction of evidence carries a mandatory default sanction and no lesser sanction can be imposed." Instead, the Third District simply stated the existing, established rules applicable to factual situations such as the one presented, and then it appropriately applied those established principles of law to the undisputed facts. The rules of law applied by the Third District were not stated to be inflexible, per se rules. By their very nature, the rules discussed by the Third District in its opinion represent a flexible, balancing approach:

What sanctions are appropriate when a party fails to preserve evidence in its custody depends on the willfulness or bad faith, if any, of the party responsible for the loss of the evidence, the extent of prejudice suffered by the other party or parties, and what is required to cure the prejudice. [cits.]

Drastic sanctions, including default, are appropriate when a defendant alters or destroys physical evidence, and when the plaintiff has demonstrated an inability to proceed without such evidence. ...[T]he testimony of plaintiff's expert convinced the trial court that, in the absence of the crucial evidence, the plaintiff was no longer able to proceed against Sponco or either of the other two defendant companies. Having proved his inability to proceed, Alcover's motion was properly granted and Sponco was held accountable for the ramifications of its actions. Here, Alcover's ability to establish his civil suit was cut off by Sponco's destruction of the evidence. [656 So.2d at 631].

It is clear that the decision brought up for review and the decisions of this Court in Commonwealth Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n. v. Tubero, 569 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1990) and Public Health Trust of Dade Co. v. Valcin, 507 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1987) are not in "direct" conflict - the decisions are not "based practically on the same state of facts and announce antagonistic conclusions." The decision in Tubero arose in the context of a party's failure to provide certain unspecified discovery in response to the adverse party's interrogatories and request for production. The case was not concerned with the extent, if any, to which the failure to provide discovery actually prejudiced the party seeking the discovery.

In contrast, as the Third District correctly recognized, "this is a case of spoliation of

evidence rather than dilatory discovery production." Sponco, 656 So.2d at 630. Unlike here, Tubero did not involve a situation where a party's "ability to establish his civil suit was cut off by ... destruction of evidence." For the same reason the Valcin case, although somewhat closer factually than Tubero, is nonetheless readily distinguishable, since it only involved a situation where the "absence of surgical operative notes impair[ed] the plaintiff's ability to establish his case." Valcin, 507 So.2d at 596. In clear contrast, it was affirmatively demonstrated in the instant case that "in the absence of the crucial evidence [destroyed by Sponco], the plaintiff was no longer able to proceed against Sponco or either of the other two defendant companies." Sponco, 656 So.2d at 631. Plaintiff's ability to proceed with his suit was "cut off by Sponco's destruction of the evidence." Id.

Once this Court discerns Sponco's mischaracterization of the decisions it discusses in its brief, it will be readily seen that Sponco is attempting to obtain discretionary conflict review by comparing apples with oranges. The limited discretionary jurisdiction granted to this Court by Florida's Constitution was never intended to encompass such situations.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS IN EITHER Commonwealth Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n. v. Tubero, 569 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1990), or Public Health Trust of Dade Co. v. Valcin, 507 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1987) ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW, NOR DOES THE DECISION PASS UPON A QUESTION CERTIFIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT TO BE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

(A) Applicable Jurisdictional Principles

Before discussing the two decisions upon which Sponco primarily relies to support its claim of "conflict jurisdiction," a short recap of the principles this Court has established to

govern that limited jurisdiction is in order. First and foremost is the principle that jurisdiction based upon a purported conflict of decisions is, under our constitution, an extremely limited grant of jurisdiction. It is a grant of discretionary jurisdiction which must be sparingly exercised with strict regard for its singular, underlying purpose: the maintenance of uniformity in the decisions of the appellate courts of Florida on a specific point of law.

A restricted view of the "conflict jurisdiction" conferred upon this Court by Article V of the Florida Constitution is essential to maintaining the basic concept under our constitution that the district courts of appeal are courts of final appellate jurisdiction in the vast majority of cases. See, Sanchez v. Wimpey, 409 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1982); Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980); Lake v. Lake, 103 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1958); Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1958). Secondly, an extremely conservative approach to determinations regarding the existence of a "conflict of decisions" is imperative, since the district courts of appeal in this State were never intended to be intermediate appellate courts, "merely intermediate resting places along an arduous and expensive pathway in the appellate process." Karlin v. City of Miami Beach, 113 So.2d 551, 553 (Fla. 1959); Lake v. Lake, 103 So.2d at 642.

The limited jurisdiction conferred upon this Court by the existence of a "direct and express" conflict of decisions has as its purpose the stabilizing of the law by correcting "real, live and vital" conflicts in the case law "by a review of decisions which form patently irreconcilable precedents." See, Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1960); Ansin v. Thurston, supra. Accordingly, the critical inquiry is whether the decision under review, if left to stand as legal precedent, will cause confusion in the body of law in this State. N. & L. Auto Parts Co. v. Doman, 117 So.2d 410 (Fla. 1960).

Finally, by passing the 1980 amendment to Article V, the citizens of this State have charged this Court with the responsibility of finding the existence of an "express and direct" conflict of decisions as an indispensable predicate to the exercise of its discretionary review jurisdiction. Since the 1980 amendment to Article V, "[c]onflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority opinion. Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). A "direct" conflict only exists in those limited circumstances where "the decisions [are] based practically on the same state of facts and announce antagonistic conclusions. Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So.2d at 811. Similarly, a conflict which is only "inherent" in or "implied" from the decision and opinion at issue is no longer sufficient. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. National Adoption Counselling Services, Inc., 498 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1986).

If these controlling principles are applied, then it becomes readily apparent that there exists no "express and direct conflict" between the Third District's decision and any of the decisions cited by Sponco. Purely and simply, the instant decision and the various decisions cited by Sponco do not "expressly" reach "antagonistic conclusions" on "the same question of

² This Court recently discussed the significance of the 1980 amendment to article V in Florida Star v. B.J.F., 530 So.2d 286, 288 (Fla. 1988):

^{... [}A]rticle V, section 3(b)(3) creates and defines two separate concepts. The first is a general grant of discretionary subject-matter jurisdiction, and the second is a constitutional command as to how the discretion itself may be exercised. In effect, the second is a limiting principle dictated to this Court by the people of Florida. While our subject-matter jurisdiction in conflict cases necessarily is very broad, our discretion to exercise it is more narrowly circumscribed by what the people have commanded. (All emphasis supplied unless noted otherwise).

(B) The District Court Did Not "Announce" A New "Per Se Rule That Destruction Of Evidence Carries A Mandatory Default Sanction And No Lesser Sanction Can Be Imposed."

Apparently recognizing that the <u>actual</u> decision and opinion it has brought up for review does not expressly and directly conflict with any decision of this Court or of another district court of appeal, Sponco has adopted a strategy under which it blatantly mischaracterizes the nature of the decision of the court below and then asserts that the <u>fictional decision it has created</u> establishes a basis for this Court to exercise its discretionary "conflict" jurisdiction. This Court should not allow itself to be fooled by Sponco's strategy.

Contrary to Sponco's assertion, the Third District did <u>not</u> "announce" a new "per se rule that destruction of evidence carries a mandatory default sanction and no lesser sanction can be imposed." Instead, the Third District simply stated the existing, established rules applicable to factual situations such as the one presented, and then it appropriately applied those established principles of law to the undisputed facts. The rules of law applied by the Third District were not stated to be inflexible, per se rules. By their very nature, the rules discussed by the Third District in its opinion represent a flexible, balancing approach:

What sanctions are appropriate when a party fails to preserve evidence in its custody depends on the willfulness or bad faith, if any, of the party responsible for the loss of the evidence, the extent of prejudice suffered by the other party or parties, and what is required to cure the prejudice. [cits.]

Drastic sanctions, including default, are appropriate when a defendant alters or destroys physical evidence, and when the plaintiff has demonstrated an inability to proceed without such evidence. [cits.] As this is a case of spoliation of evidence rather than dilatory discovery production, we find those cases relied on by [Sponco] unpersuasive. A determination of willful destruction was not imperative where the testimony of plaintiff's expert convinced the trial court that, in the absence of the crucial evidence, the plaintiff was no longer able to proceed

against Sponco or either of the other two defendant companies. Having proved his inability to proceed, Alcover's motion was properly granted and Sponco was held accountable for the ramifications of its actions. Here, Alcover's ability to establish his civil suit was cut off by Sponco's destruction of the evidence. [656 So.2d at 631].

(C) The Third District's Decision Does Not Create A Patently Irreconcilable Conflict With Commonwealth Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n. v. Tubero, 569 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1990) And Public Health Trust of Dade Co. v. Valcin, 507 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1987) On The Same Question Of Law.

It is clear that the decision brought up for review and the decisions of this Court in Commonwealth Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n, v. Tubero, 569 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1990) and Public Health Trust of Dade Co. v. Valcin, 507 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1987) are not in "direct" conflict - the decisions are not "based practically on the same state of facts and announce antagonistic conclusions." Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So.2d at 811. The decision in Tubero arose in the context of a party's failure to provide certain unspecified discovery in response to the adverse party's interrogatories and request for production. The case was not concerned with the extent, if any, to which the failure to provide discovery actually prejudiced the party seeking the discovery. The case was only concerned with discovery sanctions and the narrow legal issue of whether "an express written finding of willful or deliberate refusal to comply with discovery under Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.380 [is] necessary to sustain the severe sanctions of dismissal or default against a noncomplying plaintiff or defendant." 569 So.2d at 1271.

In contrast, as the Third District correctly recognized, "this is a case of spoliation of evidence rather than dilatory discovery production." Sponco, 656 So.2d at 630. Unlike here, Tubero did not involve a situation where a party's "ability to establish his civil suit was cut off by ... destruction of evidence." Although somewhat closer factually than Tubero, the Valcin

case is nonetheless readily distinguishable, since it only involved a situation where the "absence of surgical operative notes <u>impair[ed]</u> the plaintiff's ability to establish his case." <u>Valcin</u>, 507 So.2d at 596. In clear contrast, it was affirmatively demonstrated in the instant case that "in the absence of the crucial evidence [destroyed by Sponco], the plaintiff was <u>no longer able to proceed</u> against Sponco or either of the other two defendant companies." <u>Sponco</u>, 656 So.2d at 631.

Purely and simply, Sponco is attempting to obtain discretionary conflict review in this Court by comparing apples with oranges. The limited discretionary jurisdiction granted to this Court by Florida's Constitution was never intended to encompass such situations.

CONCLUSION

The decision reached by the district court in this case does not expressly and directly conflict with any other decision on the same question of law. The instant decision was reached after application of the appropriate principles of law and is entirely correct under the facts presented. The Third District did not depart from established principles of law and justice in concluding that the trial court properly held Sponco "accountable for the ramifications of its actions." Sponco should not be allowed a prohibited second appeal, and therefore its request for discretionary review in this Court should be denied.

HARDY, BISSETT & LIPTON, P.A. Attorneys for Respondents Edward Alcover and Susan Alcover P.O. Box 9700

Miami, Florida 33101-9700

(305) 358-6200

 $\mathbf{R}\mathbf{v}$

G. William Bissett

Florida Bar No. 297127